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St. John's Church

Alterations: Rear Chancel wall noved back to enlarge Chancel. One spiral 
staircase was added in rear of Church. Reredos added in 1924 and 1959.

The building is Gothic Revival in style with a square central tower, the steeple 
roof is copper. The brick walls are stuccoed on the exterior. In the belfry 
there is a set of bells, eleven of which date from 1854. The original building 
had a furnace and gas lights. Total expenditure at time of building was $69/378.95. 
In the nave are three aisles and there are 23 pews on each side of the central 
aisle. The paneling in the Chancel is beautifully carved. The Reredos is 
especially beautiful and depicts symbolism of "The Christus Rex", Christ the 
King of "The Regnant Christ". The pulpit and eagle lectern are of carved brass. 
The ceiling beams are arched in the Gothic style and at the back of the Church 
separating the vestibule from the nave is an open screen of wooden columns. Two 
spiral iron staircases lead to the balcony over the entrance to the Church. 
Ten stained glass windows in the nave of the Church were fabricated by Moore & Co. 
of Liverpool, England, and were installed April 11, 1886. Two additional windows 
in the nave were fabricated by J. P. Reeves & Co., Philadelphia, Pa. and were 
installed in 1938. Frederick D. Nichols in "Early Architecture of Georgia" 
states: "Built in 1852 St. John's Episcopal Church, Savannah, represents the 
Gothic Revival at its best. With the Green-Meldrim House "Parish House" on the 
other trust lot it forms one of the few remaining civic compositions in this 
style in America. The stuccoed exterior has a central square tower with Gothic 
Revival detail, while the plan follows the typical small parish arrangement 
of the Church of England with an open trussed ceiling and windows in the Early 
English or Lancet style.

Green-Meldrim House (St. John's Parish House)

An 1861 description of the Charles Green House is found in the diary of 
William H. Russell. He writes the following about Savannah:

"The wealthier classes, however, have houses of the New York 
Fifth Avenue character: one of the best of these, a handsome 
mansion of rich red sandstone belonged to my host, who coming 
out from England many years ago, raised himself by industry 
and intelligence to the position of one of the first merchants 
in Savannah. Italian statuary graced the hall; finely carved 
tables and furniture, stained glass, and pictures from Europe 
set forth the sitting-rooms; and the luxury of bathrooms and a 
supply of cold fresh water, rendered it an exception to the 
general run of Southern edifices."

This two story brick Green-Meldrim House, with its oriel windows, crenellated 
parapet, and its profusion of iron work was, according to the Savannah Morning 
News of April 26, 1851, originally covered with stucco. However, when the stucco
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE 

St. John's Church

The church complex with the adjoining Green-Meldrim house is one of the most 
outstanding examples of the Gothic-Revival style. The present building was 
constructed for the second home of St. John's Church. The Church was organized 
in December 1840 and the property on which the present building stands was 
purchased in 1848. The corner stone was laid March 13, 1852 and the building was 
consecrated on May 1, 1853 and has been in continuous use ever since. At the 
time of the Civil War, during General Sherman's occupation of Savannah, the 
bells were removed from the belfry but upon the intervention of President Lincoln 
and Secretary of War Stanton they were saved. This was brought about by the fact 
that they had been given by Mr. Joseph S.Fay in 1854 and he, at the time of the 
war, had returned to his native Boston and upon hearing that the bells had been 
removed, went to Washington to see the President in an attempt to have the bells 
saved. St. John's Hopital and Soldier's Aid Society was organized December 20, 1861 
and St. John's Hopital, operated by the ladies of St. John's, was established in 
the house of Mr. Hiram Roberts at the corner of Liberty and Jefferson Streets on 
January 8, 1962. A record was kept of every patient of the hospital, giving 
name, company, regiment, county, state, date received, date discharged, disease 
and remarks concerning the case. This record is filed at the Georgia Historical 
Society in Savannah.

The architect Calvin Nicholas Otis of Buffalo, New York (b. June 23, 1814), 
practiced architecture after having served as a carpenter and joiner, then 
having some architectural training and having served three years in the Civil 
War, he then resumed the practice of architecture until he retired to Cuba, 
New York in 1870. He designed several churches in Buffalo, New York and also 
did work in Geneva, Niagara Falls and Auburn, New York and in a book entitled 
Sacred and Constructive Art: Its Origins and Progress published in 1869, a series 
of essays by Calvin N. Otis appears.

Church records indicate that Otis was the architect, Calvin Fay was the super­ 
vising architect and the builder was Daniel Lopez- Cohen.

Green-Meldrim House (St. John's Parish)

The Gothic Revival Green-Meldrim House is primarily significant for its 
architectural merit, its association with the New York architect, John S. Norris, 
and as the home of the Charles Green family. It is now used by the adjacent
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became badly in need of repair, it was removed.

The main entrance to the house is located on Macon Street, a side street, 
with the drawing rooms opening on to a porch and garden facing Bull Street, 
the main street.

Frederick D. Nichols, in The Early Architecture of Georgia describes the 
Green-Meldrim House:

"An unusual portico of the period marks the entrance to the 
Green-Meldrim House. It has two arches supported by two 
octagonal columns, a pendant, and a parapet treated in the 
manner of the English perpendicular Gothic style of the 
fifteenth century. This portico is unique in America.

The noble double doors of the Green-Meldrim House, panelled 
with recessed arches set in studded stiles and rails, are 
framed with clustered colonnets supported on a double arch 
with a pendant, a motif which repeats the design of the portico.

The graceful, free-standing stair of the Green-Meldrim House is 
set in an exedra off the long entrance lobby with niches for 
sculpture and a domed ceiling. It is enriched with a superb 
wrought iron stair with S shaped balusters which are typical 
English Georgian design."

The oriel, or medieval bay windows, on the second floor have single sheets 
of glass without mullions,which style, according to Nichols, was introduced 
in the Gothic Revival period. The house is lavishly adorned with ornamental 
iron railings and grills. The roof is low, surrounded by a crenellated parapet.

The first floor of the house consists of a wide hall extending the length of 
the house, with a short hall at right angles to it on one side, and double 
drawing rooms, library, and dining room. The ceilings and.cornices on this 
main floor are of elaborate plaster and the woodwork is intricately carved. 
There are marble mantels, some with rococo mirrors, in all the rooms on the 
first floor and the bedrooms on the second. Four mirrors are original and 
two chandeliers are original.

The second floor repeats the hall plan of the first floor and has five bedrooms 
plus a bathroom, which until 1968 had a bathtub built into an alcove with a tank 
above it to furnish running water. At the time (1943) that the Church bought 
the house, the tub was filled by bringing up water in buckets. Since the basin 
had faucets and was adjacent to the tub enclosure it is possible that the tank
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furnished water for the basin as well as for the tub.

A wing containing rooms for servants, a stable/ carriage house, kitchens 
and pantry extended on the west side of the house. The first floor consisted 
of a room for hanging dried meat, a baking kitchen, a cooking kitchen, carriage 
room and stable. The second floor contained a feed room with chutes to send 
feed down to the stalls in the stable below, a room for hanging dried 
vegetables and several rooms for servants. This wing has now been converted 
into an attractive house now used as the rectory of St. John's Church.

In the 1940's the garden around the house was cleared under the direction of 
Mrs. Charlton Theus. After digging to a depth of about three feet the outlines 
of flower beds were found and appeared to be the original plan of the garden. 
The flower beds were replanted in the original pattern but no attempt was made 
to discover what plants were originally in the garden. The beds were filled 
with azaleas and camellias. The garden is in front of a long porch on the 
east side of the house which really appears to be the front of the house as it 
faces Bull Street, the main street; however, the main entrance is on the south 
side of the house on Macon Street.

The information was provided by Effie B. Denny, St. John's Church.
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St. John's Church as a meeting place.

The Green-Meldrim House is a splendid display of the grandeur of mid-19th 
century Savannah high society. Rococo mirrors, marble mantels, intricately 
carved moldings and luxuries such as bathrooms with running water, gas lighted 
domes and multiple sliding doors present a structure of lavish construction. 
In design its Gothic forms reflect the fashion for medieval architecture which 
had swept England after the Houses of Parliament were rebuilt in this style.

The house, lavish in construction was completed by 1854 and was said to have
been the most expensive house built in Savannah up to that time. According
to the Green family records the cost was $93,000. The two lots on which the
house is built were purchased in June of 1850 and building was started July 24, 1850,
The tax digest of January 1, 1854, indicates that the taxes at that date covered
land and improvements. Family records indicate that improvements continued
until 1861 (record of parties given in the house in 1856).

John S. Norris, listed in the New York City Directory in 1847-8 as an architect, 
is connected with the building of this house. According to the Green family 
records, there are receipts kept by Mr. Charles Green covering the building 
of the house which were signed by "John S. Norris as agent for Charles Green." 
Norris, credited with the designs for the Customs House, the Mercer Wilder House, 
the Low House, and 548 E. Broughton Street—Savannah structures all built about 
the time of the Green-Meldrim construction—could have been responsible for some 
part of the building, design or at least the supervision of the Charles Green 
House.

Mr. Charles Green, the house's original owner, was an Englishman who had come 
to Savannah in 1833. He was in the cotton and shipping business and was very 
successful. Being an Englishman and supposedly neutral in the Civil War, Green 
invited General William T. Sherman to- make his Savannah headquarters in his 
home. This Sherman did and occupied the house from December 22, 1864, until 
February 1, 1865.

After Mr. Green's death the house became the property of his son, Edward Moon 
Green, and then it passed from his ownership to Judge Peter W. Meldrim on 
July 14, 1892. The Meldrim family owned the house until December 30, 1943 when 
it was purchased by St. John's Church for use as a parish house.

The house is also interesting to scholars and admirers of the author Julian Green, 
who is the grandson of Mr. Charles Green. Julian Green has recently been elected 
to the French Academy.

The house was completely renovated by St. John's Church in 1968 and is used for 
church meetings and functions and is open to the public four days each week
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